LIMITED LC/CAR/L.15 9 June 2004 ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

REPORT OF THE TWENTIETH SESSION OF THE CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT AND COOPERATION COMMITTEE (CDCC)

* This document has been reproduced without formal editing.

Table of Contents

Part One: List of major decisions and recommendations	1
Part Two: Organization of the session.	3
Place and date of the session	3
Attendance	
Agenda item 1 - Opening statements	3
Agenda item 2 - Election of officers	5
Agenda item 3 - Adoption of the agenda	5
Agenda item 4 - Organization of work	6
Agenda item 5 - (i) Report on the implementation of the programme of work for the 2002-2003 biennium	7
(ii) Progress report on the implementation of the programme of work for the 2004-2005 biennium as at March 2004	
Agenda item 6 - Consideration of the draft programme of work for the 2006-2007 biennium	
Agenda item 7 - Status of the review of the Constituent Declaration and Rules of Procedure of CDCC	
Agenda item 8 - Summary of resolutions recently adopted by organs of the United Nations which may be of	
special interest to member countries of ECLAC/CDCC.	.16
Agenda item 9 - Preparations for the International Meeting to review the implementation of the Barbados	
Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States (SIDS)	.17
Agenda item 10 - Recent developments in relation to the proposal for securing international recognition of the	
Caribbean Sea as a special area in the context of sustainable development	
Agenda item 11 - Obstacles to implementation of the Plan of Action of the World Summit on the Information	
Society	
Agenda item 12 - Meeting the challenges of the Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA): trade trends, export	e P
specialization patterns and regional integration in the Caribbean (including the case of the non-independent	22
Caribbean countries)	
Agenda item 13 - Challenges in social development for Caribbean SIDS.	
Agenda item 14 - Measuring social and economic trends in the Caribbean	
The Caribbean Social Statistical Database (CSSD)	
CARIBTRADE: trade flows database	
Agenda item 15 - Date and place of the twelfth meeting of the Monitoring Committee	
Agenda item 16 - Other matters.	
Agenda item 17 - Consideration and adoption of the report of the CDCC technical meeting	
Agenda item 18 - Closure	.27
Part Three: Resolutions of the session	.28
Annex: List of participants	.30

PART ONE

LIST OF MAJOR DECISIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The following decisions and recommendations emanated from the discussions of the meeting:

Agenda item 5

- The work of the secretariat should begin to focus on work related to the marginalization of males.
- Member countries are urged to provide more data and related inputs in order to advance work being done in the area of ageing.

Agenda item 6

- The process of development of the work programme of the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean/Caribbean Development and Cooperation Committee (ECLAC/CDCC) secretariat should involve consultations at the national level within the CDCC member countries
- Studies undertaken by the secretariat should be harmonized to ensure there is synergy among them. The Non-Independent Caribbean Countries (NICCs) should be included in as many of the studies as possible.
- The number of documents being generated in the Caribbean subregion on sustainable development should be synthesized by ECLAC, to facilitate the clear identification of subregional priorities.
- The secretariat should commission a study to determine the causal elements in the migration of students in academia from science and technology subjects.
- Under subject area 12.2 (Linkages with the international economy, integration and cooperation), a study on the economic and social impact of the exclusion of the associate member countries from the Free Trade Area of the Americas should be included as well as a study on the access of associate member countries to membership in United Nations specialized agencies and other United Nations bodies.
- Under Operational Activities, it was proposed that the following be added: Provision of
 advisory services to the Working Group of Non-Independent Caribbean Countries to
 provide a more effective mechanism to support initiatives specifically related to associate
 member countries.

- In the context of inter-agency cooperation and liaison, two additions were proposed: (i) in the area of tourism, activities would be carried out in close collaboration with the Caribbean Tourism Organization (CTO), the Association of Caribbean States (ACS) and the World Tourism Organization (WTO); and, (ii) in the area of assistance to associate member countries, activities would be carried out in collaboration with relevant committees of the United Nations General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC), and the Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) in respect of implementation of resolutions calling for participation of these countries in the wider United Nations system.
- Arrangements should be developed whereby regional and regionally-based agencies enjoy reciprocal entry to meetings with a view to avoiding duplication of effort.

Agenda item 9

• Further subregional consultations are required to prepare for SIDS + 10, including the preparation of reactions to the proposals advanced by the developed countries at the International Preparatory Conference in New York, 14-16 April, 2004 and the clear identification of the subregion's priority interests and concerns. Agencies can be of assistance in the development of a consensual position.

Agenda item 10

• The meeting was urged to support the secretariat in its efforts to secure funding to assist in the creation of an inclusive Caribbean Information Society.

Agenda item 13

• A study should be undertaken by ECLAC on "changing family structures in the Caribbean", to examine, in particular, the impact of the increasing divorce rate on family structure.

PART TWO

ORGANIZATION OF THE SESSION

Place and date of the session

The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean convened the twentieth session of the Caribbean Development and Cooperation Committee (CDCC) at the ministerial level at the Divi Carina Bay Confeence Centre, St. Croix, United States Virgin Islands, on 22-23 April 2004.

Attendance

The session was attended by representatives of the following CDCC member countries: Antigua and Barbuda, Dominican Republic, Grenada, Jamaica, St. Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname and Trinidad and Tobago. The participating associate members were Anguilla, the Netherlands Antilles, Puerto Rico and the United States Virgin Islands. The list of participants is annexed to this report.

Representatives of the following organizations of the United Nations system were represented at the session: the International Telecommunication Union (ITU), the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP).

The following intergovernmental organizations were also represented: the Association of Caribbean States (ACS); the Caribbean Community (CARICOM); the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA) and the Organisation of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS).

Agenda item 1 - Opening statements

The Officer-in-Charge of the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean welcomed delegates to the session and also recognized his colleagues from the ECLAC Headquarters in Santiago, Chile: Mr. Daniel Blanchard, Secretary of the Commission and Ms. Miriam Krawczyk, Chief of the Programme Planning and Operations Division. He then introduced the agenda for the session indicating that the secretariat would present a review of its accomplishments over the past biennium; engage in discussions relating to the status of implementation of the programme of work of the current biennium; and discuss the work envisaged for the 2006-2007 biennium.

He stated that this twentieth session provided an opportunity to review and evaluate the CDCC and its secretariat, with a view to making them more effective and more responsive to the needs of member countries, in particular the Non-Independent Caribbean Countries (NICCs). The session also provided an appropriate context for the discussion and analysis of some of the main challenges faced by Caribbean countries in a globalized twenty-first century. Among these challenges were the need to revamp economic growth and to determine whether the pillars that sustained growth in the past could be maintained in the short and medium terms.

The Governor of the United States Virgin Islands, the Honourable Charles Turnbull, welcomed the visiting delegates to St. Croix and pointed out that the convening of the twentieth session of the CDCC in St Croix also marked the twentieth anniversary of the entry of the United States Virgin Islands into the Committee. He highlighted the unique characteristic of the CDCC, which embraced the diversity of Caribbean countries and underscored the challenges facing Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS), including globalization and trade liberalization. Special reference was made to the proposal for the creation of a Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA), which excluded the associate members of CDCC. As incoming Chair of the CDCC, his country would seek the assistance of ECLAC in determining the potential impact of the FTAA on the economies thus excluded.

The Governor recognized the contributions made by previous political leaders of the United States Virgin Islands in securing the admission of his country into the CDCC. In addition, the role of the United States Virgin Islands in enhancing the integration of the CDCC associate members into the social and economic programmes and other activities of the wider United Nations system through its chairmanship of the Working Group of the NICCs was identified. Special tribute was also paid to Mr. Daniel Blanchard, Secretary of ECLAC and former Director of the Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean, for his contribution to the achievement of the objectives of the CDCC. The Governor expressed confidence that the session would succeed in mapping out a strategy for the future development of the Committee and its activities.

The Secretary of the Commission, Mr. Daniel Blanchard, delivered a statement on behalf of the Executive Secretary of ECLAC, Mr. Jose Luis Machinea. He traced the role of the CDCC since its creation in 1975 as a subregional think-tank and advisory body; an institution which could be accessed by a number of non-independent countries and territories; and an organ that provided a basis for 'circles of partnership'. The circles of partnership related to the West Indian family; the West Indian family and the non-English speaking States; and a partnership encompassing the Caribbean and Latin American economies. This third circle permitted the CDCC, through its membership in ECLAC, to voice the concerns and issues of its members in Latin American forums.

He also suggested that the twentieth session of the CDCC should be viewed as an opportunity to deepen the process of revitalization of the organ, a process which could not be successful without the continuous support of the member countries. He reiterated the importance of this support for the realization of the third circle of partnership.

Finally, he commended the Government of the United States Virgin Islands, on behalf of the Executive Secretary of ECLAC, for its vision in supporting and hosting the twentieth session of the CDCC. He reiterated the support of ECLAC to the member countries of the CDCC.

Agenda item 2 - Election of officers

The Bureau was elected as follows:

Chairman: United States Virgin Islands

<u>Vice-Chairmen:</u> First Vice-Chairman - Dominican Republic

Second Vice-Chairman – St. Kitts and Nevis

Rapporteur: Anguilla

The representative of the United States Virgin Islands expressed his gratitude to the session for having elected his country to the Chair. He also expressed his appreciation to the representative of Anguilla for having agreed to assume the duties of Rapporteur; to Puerto Rico for having chaired the Monitoring Committee; and to Trinidad and Tobago for hosting the ECLAC/CDCC Headquarters and for having served as chairman of the CDCC for an extended period.

Agenda Item 3 - Adoption of the agenda

The Chairman observed that the format of the meeting had evolved from annual sessions convened over a three-day period, to the convening of meetings of two days' duration in alternate years. Notwithstanding this development, the number of agenda items had remained essentially constant, with implications for the conduct of the sessions. The following agenda was adopted.

- 1. Opening statements
- 2. Election of officers
- 3. Adoption of the agenda
- 4. Procedural matters and organization of work
- 5. (i) Report on the implementation of the programme of work for the 2002-2003 biennium
 - (ii) Progress report on the implementation of the programme of work for the 2004-2005 biennium as at March 2004
- 6. Consideration of the draft programme of work for the 2006-2007 biennium
- 7. Status of the review of the Constituent Declaration and Functions and Rules of Procedure of CDCC
- 8. Summary of resolutions recently adopted by organs of the United Nations which may be of special interest to member countries of ECLAC/CDCC.

- 9. Preparations for the International Meeting to review the implementation of the Barbados Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States (SIDS)
- 10. Recent developments in relation to the proposal for securing international recognition of the Caribbean Sea as a special area in the context of sustainable development
- 11. Obstacles to implementation of the Plan of Action of the World Summit on the Information Society
- 12. Meeting the challenges of the Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA): trade trends, export specialization patterns and regional integration in the Caribbean (including the case of the non-independent Caribbean countries)
- 13. Challenges in social development for Caribbean SIDS
- 14. Measuring social and economic trends in the Caribbean
 - The Caribbean Social Statistical Database (CSSD)
 - CARIBTRADE: trade flows database
- 15. Date and place of the twelfth meeting of the Monitoring Committee
- 16. Other matters
- 17. Consideration and adoption of the report of the CDCC technical meeting
- 18. Closure

Agenda item 4 - Organization of work

With respect to Agenda item 6, the representative of the Netherlands Antilles proposed that discussion on the 2006-2007 work programme be deferred to the second day of the meeting to allow delegates sufficient time to review its content in greater detail.

During the adoption of the agenda, the Chairman expressed concern that CDCC sessions were currently of a two-day duration rather than three days as obtained previously. One delegate suggested that the working hours be extended to allow more time for discussion of the respective agenda items. This suggestion was accepted.

Agenda item 5 - (i) Report on the implementation of the programme of work for the 2002-2003 biennium

The secretariat presented document, CDCC 20/Inf.10; LC/CAR/L.9, Report on the implementation of the work programme for the 2002-2003 biennium. The following considerations informed the development of the work programme: (i) ensuring a closer working relationship with member countries; (ii) ensuring relevance, by adequately responding to the needs of member countries; (iii) increasing the coverage and visibility of the work of the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean; and (iv) monitoring and evaluating the work of the office. The several areas of activity of the Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean were then outlined and the building blocks of the assistance provided to member countries, including capacity-building (social, technology, statistics); policy formulation (social, economic, tourism); trade negotiations (Software, FTAA); and support to regional institutions and agencies, were highlighted. The secretariat then presented statistics related to the implementation of the work programme, including the total number of outputs; the number of participants at meetings; the number and range of technical publications; and the extent of implementation of the work programme.

The secretariat advised that it had begun to record the number of times its documents had been downloaded as a means of monitoring the relevance of the activities of the Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean. A total of 37,000 downloads had been registered, with 10 documents having been downloaded over 500 times.

The activities and documentation produced by the office related to three areas of research: economic and social integration; internal economic conditions; and social development. The economic and social integration subject area addresses the participation of the CDCC member States in the World Trade Organization (WTO); the future of preferential trading arrangements; the effects and impact of regional trade agreements; and trade data measurement and analysis. Internal economic conditions related to the process of structural change; the imperatives for economic growth; the process of economic and institutional reforms. Social development embraces poverty; HIV/AIDS; integrated planning with a social perspective; gender relationships and domestic violence; migration and demographic ageing.

Overall, the picture that had emerged from the research undertaken by the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat included fewer extraregional markets accompanied by an increase in intraregional trade. However, the intraregional dynamics were not necessarily beneficial to Caribbean countries, as intraregional trade was highly protected and tied to non-competitive conditions. In addition, growth had either stagnated or had been on the lower side of employment creation. Accompanying the increase in foreign direct investment, especially in resource-based economies, was a decline in domestic investment, signalling a crowding out of domestic investment by foreign direct investment. As regards the social indicators, these pointed to relatively high poverty levels and to a population that was increasingly ageing, with concomitant implications for government finances and domestic resources, in general.

In commenting on the regional tourism performance, one delegation suggested that the secretariat should base its analysis on the number of tourist arrivals, in light of the fact that while

the Caribbean may be obtaining a lesser percentage of the market share of tourist arrivals, as presented in the secretariat report, within the wider Caribbean, the actual number of tourist arrivals might be increasing over time, with positive implications for tourism revenue in several countries.

Further, on the issue of the competitiveness of the economies of the CDCC countries, it was proposed that, rather than highlighting the decline of the banana or sugar industries, attention should be directed to the newly competitive industries that were emerging within the Caribbean subregion. While these did not feature in current macroeconomic computations, they might nevertheless assume considerable relevance in the future. Such an approach would yield a truer and perhaps less bleak outlook for Caribbean economies.

A third observation related to the need for data presentations to include, to the extent possible, policy recommendations, together with an analysis of causal factors, in order to permit a more thorough analysis of the economic circumstances confronting the respective countries.

In response, the secretariat pointed out that, in the documentation provided to the delegations, in some cases, policy recommendations and causal factors had indeed been identified. Some deeper analyses had also been done, which indicated that either emerging competitive industries tended to be specific to certain countries, or that competitive products were singular in nature. Moreover, some of these competitive products or industries were found to lose their competitiveness when tariff reductions were applied as required by the FTAA.

The secretariat also emphasised that lack of data or restrictions to data access in some countries prohibited fuller data analysis and the provision of useful policy recommendations. In some instances, this development might actually hinder economic development. The scenario was described in which the International Monetary Fund (IMF) was opposed to the provision of fiscal incentives within countries. However with greater data access from Caribbean countries, it might actually be demonstrated that fiscal incentives actually assisted small economies and should therefore be allowed under IMF programmes to small economies.

Another delegation inquired whether the yachting study prepared for Martinique had been funded through extrabudgetary resources, since non-members of the CDCC could not be funded from the ECLAC budget. The secretariat indicated that extrabudgetary financing was in fact used, and that, in many instances, it was valuable to conduct such studies inasmuch as countries with varying economic and administrative structures provided very useful comparisons with other CDCC members. Further, it was the responsibility of ECLAC to always provide comparisons among countries to generate a more in-depth analysis of data. In this regard, the secretariat noted that it was important for member countries to provide feedback on the documentation prepared by the secretariat as this would assist in improving its quality.

In response to a query with respect to the use of the term "non-independent territories", the secretariat informed that the correct term was non-independent Caribbean countries (NICCs), which was used in all documentation.

On a point of information, the secretariat informed that desk officers had been assigned to each country to provide more efficient coverage of the CDCC membership. The list of desk officers and their corresponding assignments would be provided to the member countries.

The secretariat also reported that it was attempting to determine the efficiency of its expenditure by measuring its outputs in relation to its expenditure. At present, the number of hits to the Office's Web page was used as a preliminary approximation to determine the extent of the use of the Office's outputs by the public. One delegate questioned the validity of this methodology and suggested an alternative approach which involved the greater differentiation of the users of the respective documents in order to arrive at a conclusion that would enjoy greater validity. The secretariat assured the meeting that the approach indicated in its presentation represented a first step in an effort to obtain feedback from clients and that the instrument would be fine-tuned so as to be able to distinguish among the users.

The session was also informed that the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat had acquired video conferencing equipment for use in conducting remote meetings. Member countries were urged to make use of this facility to further improve their communication with the office.

One delegation questioned the non-inclusion of a number of countries in the studies or presentations done by the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat even though the necessary data had been made available. The secretariat indicated that, in future, every effort would be made to include all member countries in the presentations. However, it was also pointed out that, in some instances, the studies were specific to a certain subregion, or to a particular country that might have requested the study.

The delegation of the United States Virgin Islands indicated that its country would be providing more information in future as a result of the upcoming collaboration among the Eastern Caribbean Centre of the University of the Virgin Islands and the Bureau of Economics Research with the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat.

Agenda item 5 - (ii) Progress report on the implementation of the programme of work for the 2004-2005 biennium as at March 2004

The secretariat presented document, CDCC 20; Inf.11 LC/CAR/L.10, Progress Report on the implementation of the work programme for the 2004-2005 biennium as at March 2004.

The 2004-2005 work programme highlighted the strategic vision of major work themes: competing successfully in the global economy; the status of intraregional integration; the entry into force of the FTAA; fiscal reform; the social challenges for SIDS; and the global information society. The areas of priority for the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean included the Caribbean Information Society; the Social Statistical Database; the analysis, measurement and impact of services; the update and improvement of the CARIBTRADE database; and cruise ship tourism.

Following the presentation of the work programme for 2004-2005, the secretariat informed the meeting that ECLAC, Santiago, was preparing a study on the economic and social evolution of Puerto Rico. The section being prepared by the Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean would constitute an input into the ECLAC report for the thirtieth session of the Commission which is to convene in Puerto Rico, on 28 June-2 July 2004. The secretariat also informed that the report on the FTAA, prepared for the consideration of the OECS Secretariat, would be available online once approved by that Secretariat.

With regard to subject areas 12.1(Macro-economic policies and economic development) and 12.2 (Linkages with the international economy, integration and cooperation), the secretariat informed member countries that all requests for technical assistance had been entertained and supported from either the regular budget or extrabudgetary resources, depending on the type of study requested.

Also, with respect to subject area 12.2, the Chairman requested clarification from the secretariat of the references in that section to the effect that "the execution of operational activities is subject to the availability of extrabudgetary resources."

The secretariat confirmed the position as articulated in the document. The secretariat further informed that, given the nature of certain requests received from member countries, it had often felt obliged to secure funding from other sources so as to be able to implement the requested activities.

In response to a query from a delegation with regard to subject area 12.3 (Statistics and information management for development), the session was informed that the CARIBTRADE database at present did not contain information on maritime transportation, and that this component would be included at a later stage in its development. Additional information would be provided during the discussion on the relevant agenda item.

In connection with subject area 12.5 (*The application of science and technology to the Caribbean*), the secretariat informed the meeting of the retirement of Mr. Donatus St. Aimee, Economic Affairs Officer with responsibility for Science and Technology, by the end of April 2004 and the retirement, in January 2004, of the Statistics Officer, Mr. Lancelot Busby.

Following the presentation of the work undertaken in the area of science and technology, the Chairman commended the work of Mr. St. Aimee. He also reminded delegates that it was that officer who had been instrumental in having the "C" appended to ECLA to ensure that the Caribbean was recognized in the English acronym of the Commission. His pioneering role in the formation of the Caribbean Council for Science and Technology (CCST) was also recognized. The representatives from Saint Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines also paid tribute to Mr. St. Aimee for his accomplishments and expressed their best wishes on his retirement. The session endorsed the sentiments expressed.

In response to a concern expressed by one delegation, the secretariat informed that every effort would be made to ensure that the two vacant posts in the Statistics and Science and

Technology Units, would be filled at an early date. Another delegation suggested that such posts be filled by Caribbean nationals possessing the necessary qualifications and experience.

A major concern articulated by delegations related to the work undertaken in subject area 12.6 (Social development in the Caribbean). Special mention was made of the observation by the Principal of the Cave Hill Campus of the University of the West Indies (UWI) that the majority of enrolled students were female. In this regard, one delegate suggested the need to focus on work related to the marginalization of males.

In response, the secretariat informed the meeting that a study on gender socialization would be conducted within the present work programme to analyze the causes of the differences in the education of boys and girls. The secretariat further informed the meeting that a study on education and gender income disparities in the Caribbean would be conducted.

Another delegate complimented the secretariat on its work in the area of ageing. The rapid changes in the age structure of the population in the subregion, as a consequence of the increase in life expectancy and the decline in fertility, were noted. It was also suggested that the work of ECLAC could focus on new issues related to ageing, including the provision of support to member countries in this area.

In response, the secretariat recalled that, in the follow up to the Second World Assembly on Ageing which convened in Madrid, Spain, April 2002, governments had adopted the Regional Strategy on Ageing at the Intergovernmental Regional Conference on Ageing convened by the ECLAC Population Division (CELADE) in Santiago, Chile, in November 2003. The secretariat had prepared a study on policies and programmes addressing population ageing in the Caribbean and was also engaged in the organization of a subregional meeting for the Caribbean to follow up on the implementation of the Regional Strategy in the Caribbean, in collaboration with the UWI and the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). It urged members to provide more inputs in order to advance the work being undertaken in the area of ageing.

Agenda item 6 - Consideration of the draft programme of work for the 2006-2007 biennium

The secretariat presented document, CDCC 20/Inf.12; LC/CAR/L.11, entitled *Work Programme for the 2006-2007 biennium* indicating that it would be submitted to the thirtieth session of ECLAC.

The Chairman opened the floor for general comments on the 2006-2007 work-programme, and urged governments to submit amendments as early as possible, to allow for incorporation by the secretariat before the document was presented to the ECLAC session.

The representative from UNEP informed the meeting that his organization had developed a five-year strategy and enquired whether the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat also took a longer time-frame into consideration when planning its work programme. The secretariat responded that a similar process took place within other ECLAC offices and that this fitted into the overall

ECLAC mid-term work plan. It was emphasized that the CDCC was the only body within ECLAC that reviewed its work programme with its member countries prior to its submission for approval.

The Chairman requested clarification of the presentation of tourism as a new subject area in the work programme, in light of the fact that there were other bodies in the subregion that already dealt with this subject. He further inquired whether ECLAC would seek collaboration with those entities. The secretariat informed that tourism was not, in fact, a new subject area but that it had been located under the subject area sustainable development. Moreover, collaboration with other relevant bodies working in the tourism area would be sought.

An enquiry was made about whether or not there were mechanisms in place to avoid duplication of work done by other agencies and to monitor the impact of studies presented to member governments. The secretariat indicated that mechanisms for inter-agency communication and cooperation, such as regular meetings of heads of agency, provided the avenues through which these issues were addressed.

It was recommended that the secretariat make reference to the Meeting of Agencies, held prior to the session, as a means of clarifying the process of inter-agency coordination. Attention was drawn to specific collaborative activities that were discussed at the Meeting of Agencies and it was suggested that, before the adoption of the 2006-2007 work programme, reference should be made to other partnerships that had been identified for development during 2004-2005.

There was a query concerning the process that was used to establish the relevance of the work programme to the Caribbean subregion, indicating that there should be a process at the national level within the various countries, which would provide inputs towards the drafting of the work programme. In such a case, there would be no need to develop indicators to determine the relevance of the work of ECLAC to the subregion, since the mandate would have originated within the subregion itself. Member States would, therefore, have an opportunity to further examine and comment on the document before this meeting. The meeting was also advised that even after the programme is adopted by ECLAC, member States would have an opportunity for additional comment and revision within the ambit of the Fifth Committee of the United Nations General Assembly. Delegates were, however, cautioned that once the programme had been adopted by ECLAC, it would be possible to only revise 20% of the content.

The secretariat indicated that it was sometimes difficult to arrive at a definitive assessment of the impact of studies since (i) some outputs were intangible, and (ii) the impact of studies might not be apparent in the immediate future. However, the example of the yachting study completed by ECLAC/CDCC in 2003 and the study of planning legislation of some CDCC countries had yielded tangible results, such as the drafting of new legislation; the acquisition of funding for certain activities; and the inclusion of recommendations of ECLAC/CDCC in policy documents. In addition, specific studies directed towards a particular country were easier to track than general studies which might encompass a subregion. Further, some ECLAC studies were located within the context of a larger exercise and were thus intended to inform and, not necessarily, to change situations. The methodology used to determine relevance should also be considered. In the latter instance, different methodologies could lead to different conclusions and

ECLAC/CDCC was now in the process of examining different methodologies. Further, in most instances, studies provided by ECLAC/CDCC were used together with technical inputs provided by other agencies, so that the direct impact of each was difficult to assess.

As a means of ensuring that the work programme remained relevant to the needs of the subregion, the secretariat also indicated that the various sections of the work programme were designed by the officers involved in field work who were thus in regular contact with member countries.

There was a call from one delegation for the harmonization of studies across the CDCC subregion to ensure that there was a synergy among them. A call was also made for the inclusion of the NICCs in as many ECLAC studies as possible. There was general agreement on these proposals.

One delegate suggested a role for ECLAC in terms of synthesizing the number of documents on *sustainable development* being generated in the Caribbean subregion. There was a lack of clarity by the various governments as regards the priorities of the subregion. A synthesis, along the lines suggested, would have helped to increase the relevance of the 2006-2007 work programme.

At this point, it was suggested that the work programme document for 2006-2007 be examined page by page so that recommendations could be more specific and directed. It was also agreed that governments should provide their amendments to the secretariat within the next two weeks.

The following specific interventions were made:

The representative of the United States Virgin Islands proposed two additions to subject area 12.2 (*Linkages with the international economy, integration and cooperation*), namely, a study on the economic and social impact of the exclusion of the associate member countries from the FTAA, and a study on the access of associate member countries to membership in United Nations specialized agencies and other United Nations bodies.

Under *Operational Activities*, it was proposed that the following be added: Provision of advisory services to the Working Group of NICCs to provide a more effective mechanism to support initiatives specifically related to associate member countries.

Finally, in the context of inter-agency cooperation and liaison, the following were proposed: In the area of tourism, activities would be carried out in close collaboration with the Caribbean Tourism Organization (CTO), the ACS and the WTO; and in the area of assistance to associate member countries, activities would be carried out in collaboration with relevant committees of the United Nations General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC), and the Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) in respect of implementation of resolutions calling for participation of these countries in the wider United Nations system.

One delegate suggested that, in light of previous comments from the secretariat, indicator 2 (Number of Government policy changes influenced by analytical inputs and policy advice provided by ECLAC to Caribbean countries receiving technical cooperation services) in the table entitled: "Expected Accomplishments and Indicators of Achievements-biennium 2006-2007", might be reconsidered. He undertook to provide the secretariat with written comments embodying his concern. The secretariat indicated that perhaps it would be best to retain the generic indicators, fully aware that they may not be equally applicable to all outputs.

Another delegate suggested that the term "member countries" be used in the nomenclature of the work programme rather than the present term "member States".

In response to a query on the availability of resources to implement activities, the secretariat informed that should financial resources be unavailable at the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters to fulfil a specific request for technical assistance, efforts would be made to access them from ECLAC Headquarters. Alternatively, the secretariat would lend support to agencies in the subregion which were carrying out activities in the areas pertaining to the request. The request from member countries must be submitted in writing for these processes to be initiated.

In response to a query on the study proposed to be undertaken on *sustainable development in human rights perspective*, the secretariat explained that *sustainable development* had been perceived as an integration of the economic, social and environmental dimensions and that, under each of these headings, there were certain rights ascribed to persons under various international conventions. Further, in certain international forums, the concept had already been articulated that policies executed in the pursuit of sustainable development would be simultaneously promote human rights. This was the context in which the research proposal had been conceived.

With regard to the area of science and technology, there was widespread concern about the overwhelming focus on water issues over the biennium. In response, the secretariat indicated that the responsible officer was not present to provide a response and that the relevant representation could be made to ECLAC, including at the thirtieth session of the Commission.

The representative of UNEP informed the meeting of the Global Environment Facility (GEF) project on Integrating Watershed and Coastal Area Management (IWCAM) which had produced capability assessments for the 13 participating SIDS. These assessments had been further compiled into a regional profile and the relevant documents were available on the IWCAM page of the Caribbean Environment Programme website. He reiterated his invitation to the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat to consult the IWCAM Project, since its objectives and work plan were very relevant to this activity.

One delegate observed that UWI was the only tertiary institution mentioned in the document, to the exclusion of other universities in the subregion. The secretariat indicated that efforts would be made to have the document reformatted to reflect a more inclusive coverage.

The representative of St. Vincent and the Grenadines expressed concern about the seemingly narrow focus of the biennial plan of the science and technology section and added that

science and technology development was predicated on capacity building, institutional strengthening and sensitization of the public to the subject matter. He informed the session of the rather disturbing migration of students in academia from science and technology subjects to other areas. He recommended that the secretariat might want to commission a study to determine the causal elements of this trend, which if unchecked, could have detrimental effects on the development of Caribbean societies.

The representative of Jamaica reported that an MSc. Programme in *Water Resources Management* was available at UWI, Mona, and observed that this development had not been taken into account in the science and technology section of the work programme.

In reply to the queries from various delegations, the secretariat indicated that the Science and Technology Unit of the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean had executed a number of activities relating to the transfer of science and technology in earlier biennia. It had also attempted to sensitize countries to the importance of science and technology to development. Consultants had been hired to provide institutional strengthening in various CDCC member countries.

One delegation suggested that the Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean should broaden its cooperation with the ACS to embrace areas beyond the strictly economic realm, which was the only area of cooperation reflected in the document. He suggested that there were other possible areas of fruitful collaboration such as marine transport; sustainable tourism; and natural disasters.

The secretariat assured the meeting that, with the exception of marine transport which was not within the scope of the ECLAC mandate, cooperation with the ACS had indeed been broadened beyond the economic realm into the other areas suggested. This statement was supported by the ACS representative who informed the gathering that, over the next 10 years, the ACS would be increasingly involved in collaborative efforts with ECLAC.

The representative of UNEP drew to the attention of the session the Memorandum of Understanding which had been concluded between his organization and IOCARIBE. He recommended that other agencies should participate in each other's intergovernmental meetings to facilitate the development of partnerships and the avoidance of duplication of effort.

Agenda item 7 - Status of the review of the Constituent Declaration and Rules of Procedure of CDCC

The secretariat presented document CDCC 20/Inf.7 and LC/CAR/L.6 which identified three major milestones, namely:

• Resolution 55 (XV111), the Chaguaramas Declaration, adopted by the Ministers and other Heads of Delegation at the eighteenth session of the CDCC, 30 March-1 April 2000, which called for a comprehensive review of the Constituent Declaration of the

- CDCC with particular reference to the specific objectives, goals, structures, mechanisms and processes of the organ, including its relationship with other organs;
- The tenth meeting of the Monitoring Committee, 6 March 2001, which undertook a comprehensive review of the CDCC on the basis of documentation provided by the secretariat and recommended the adoption of revised texts;
- The nineteenth session of the CDCC, 14-15 March 2002, which adopted, unanimously, Draft Texts of the Constituent Declaration of the CDCC and Revised Functions and Rules of Procedure of the CDCC.

As conveyed to the eleventh Meeting of the Monitoring Committee, which convened in Puerto Rico, on 10 April 2003, the relevant texts had been transmitted to ECLAC, Santiago, on 3 May 2002, with a request that they be considered at the twenty-ninth session of ECLAC which convened, in Brazil, in late May 2002. The fact that the texts could not be considered at that session of ECLAC had prompted their resubmission, with a request that they be considered at the thirtieth session of the Commission.

The Secretary of the Commission confirmed that this matter would be submitted for consideration to the ECLAC session, in Puerto Rico, in June 2004.

Agenda item 8 - Summary of resolutions recently adopted by organs of the United Nations which may be of special interest to member countries of ECLAC/CDCC

The secretariat made a summary presentation of a number of resolutions that had recently been adopted by the principal organs of the United Nations, which might be of special interest to members of ECLAC/CDCC by drawing attention to document, CDCC 20/Inf.9; LC/CAR/L.8, entitled Summary of resolutions recently adopted by organs of the United Nations which might be of special interest to member countries of ECLAC/CDCC (which contained summaries of six resolutions that had been recently adopted by organs of the United Nations. Its status as an Information Document was emphasized. As was customary, in the preparation of the document, a number of resolutions had been encountered spanning the areas of trade and development; energy and sustainable development; ageing; the disabled; and youth. However, their content either marked no real advances on the outcomes of the corresponding recent international conferences or had been cast in a global context that did not address specific concerns of Caribbean SIDS. The resolutions that fell within the remaining categories addressed decolonization issues, which, given the structure of the CDCC membership, among other considerations, were deemed relevant; and also the issues relating to the international drug problem; and sustainable fisheries management. These were identified as representing ongoing concerns of CDCC member countries hence their inclusion.

The Chairman of the meeting indicated that the resolutions concerning non-self governing territories excluded Puerto Rico and the Netherlands Antilles as they were not listed as non-self-governing by the United Nations General Assembly. He also indicated that even though the document did not make reference to resolutions related to upcoming world conferences, these

should be taken into account as they were also of relevance to the ECLAC/CDCC member and associate member countries.

The representative of Puerto Rico clarified that the Associated State of Puerto Rico had received support from the Committee of 24 with respect to pursuance of its legitimate options for self-government.

In addition, the Chairman proposed that note be taken of the support of the countries of the OECS, particularly Antigua and Barbuda, Grenada, St. Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines for their active participation as members of the Special Committee on Decolonisation.

Agenda item 9 - Preparations for the International Meeting to review the implementation of the Barbados Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States (SIDS)

The secretariat drew the attention of the meeting to document LC/CAR/L.2 CDCC 20/Inf.3 entitled *Caribbean Subregional Preparations for the International Meeting to Review the Implementation of the Barbados Plan of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States*. Identifying the 11 April 2003 Joint Meeting of Caribbean SIDS and Members of the Inter-Agency Collaborative Group (IACG) as the first stage of Caribbean subregional preparations for SIDS + 10, attention was drawn to a number of subsequent major developments, among them: the CARICOM-sponsored regional meeting to develop a follow-up strategy for the Caribbean for the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD) and preparations for the 10-year review of the Barbados Programme of Action (BPOA), Grenada, 14-16 April 2003; and the Caribbean Regional Preparatory Meeting to review the Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States, Trinidad and Tobago, 6-10 October 2003.

The outcomes of the respective meetings were summarily reviewed and were indicated to have represented important contributions to the Interregional Preparatory Meeting for SIDS + 10 which convened in Nassau, The Bahamas, on 26-30 January 2004. The discussions of the Caribbean Regional Preparatory Meeting had been substantially informed by the review documents produced by the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean (documents LC/CAR/G.749 and its abbreviated version bearing reference LC/CAR/G.750) which traced the subregion's experience in implementation of the BPOA from the time of its adoption in 1994 to 2003, with perspectives also on the International Meeting on SIDS + 10, which is to convene in Mauritius, on 30 August-3 September 2004.

The outcomes of the Interregional Meeting in the Bahamas, namely, the *Nassau Declaration* and the *AOSIS Strategy for the Further Implementation of the BPOA*, were identified as the focus of attention at the International Preparatory Meeting for SIDS + 10 which convened, in New York, on 14-16 April 2004. Caribbean SIDS were urged to stand ready to defend the fundamental challenges that had been raised at the International Preparatory Meeting with respect to the international recognition of SIDS as a category of State that warranted special

treatment; and the respective balance of responsibilities as between SIDS and the wider international community with respect to the further implementation of the Barbados Programme of Action. The importance of the identification by Caribbean SIDS of priority concerns for articulation at the Mauritius Meeting was also emphasized.

The Chairman indicated that the AOSIS Strategy Paper had been endorsed by the Group of 77 and China and that it had undergone a first reading by the Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD) acting as preparatory committee of the International Meeting. A number of proposed modifications were made to the G-77 text by the development partners and were being reviewed by G-77. A compilation text was being prepared. In this connection, he praised the work of the Chairman of AOSIS, in his capacity as lead negotiator for G-77, in defending the *Strategy Paper* as a document which should be seen from a holistic perspective and as one which represented the interrelated priorities of sustainable development of SIDS. He further applauded the Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) government representatives, in particular Belize, Barbados and Tuvalu, for their efforts during the ongoing negotiations on the outcome document. He concluded that further informal consultations were envisaged on the document in advance of the convening of the International Meeting in Mauritius.

The representative of Saint Lucia suggested that the adjustments being made to the Strategy Paper should be interpreted as a categorical rejection of the ministerial positions adopted in the Bahamas meeting and intimated that the SIDS process had been manipulated by those who had been charged with its management. This had not been to the benefit of the SIDS. Furthermore, insufficient meetings were held at the governmental level to ensure that a consensual position was advanced by the Caribbean subregion. In this regard, assistance could be rendered by the agencies present in the subregion prior to the Mauritius meeting. Saint Lucia was working towards adopting a position whereby there would be no renegotiation on the question of whether there existed a category of countries such as SIDS.

The representative of UNEP indicated that while UNEP was part of an Inter Agency Task Force on SIDS, the agency also had a global mandate to fulfil. Such being the case, while UNEP would be able to render assistance to the SIDS, its wider mandate also had to be borne in mind.

The representative of the ITU pointed out that new and emerging issues had been raised at the Twelfth Meeting of the Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD-12) in New York and previously at the Regional Preparatory Meeting held in Trinidad and Tobago in October 2003. In neither instance were the relevant experts present to lend their expertise to the discussions. This had weakened the bargaining position of the SIDS. He drew attention to the movement of the POA from an environmentally focused policy document, thence to a *sustainable development* perspective, with the new and emerging issues taking prominence in the later stages. Inputs into the discussions had not always taken cognizance of these developments.

Reference was made by the delegation of Trinidad and Tobago to the two sessions being convened to bring the respective negotiating positions of AOSIS and the developed countries closer together. Two days (28-29 August 2004) would be set aside for informal consultations, if necessary. It had also been proposed that a further round of informal consultations should take place towards the middle of May 2004. As such, it was crucial for CARICOM and Caribbean

SIDS to identify a forum to discuss the group's reaction to the new proposals put forward by the developed countries. While this might not be possible before the May round of informal consultations, every effort should be made to ensure that it took place prior to the convening of the Mauritius meeting. The delegation also informed that the CARICOM Secretariat had prepared a briefing document providing an analysis of the issues of concern to CARICOM SIDS. This could be used as the basis to inform any additional concerns that CARICOM and Caribbean SIDS might wish to have included in the final document adopted in Mauritius.

Agenda item 10 - Recent developments in relation to the proposal for securing international recognition of the Caribbean Sea as a special area in the context of sustainable development

The secretariat drew the attention of the meeting to document LC/CAR/L.3; CDCC 20/Inf.4, which reviewed *Recent developments in relation to the proposal for securing the international recognition of the Caribbean Sea as a special area in the context of sustainable development.* The merits of the resolutions earlier adopted by the United Nations on this subject, resolutions 54/225; 55/203; and 57/261, were summarily reviewed, together with developments since the April 2003 meeting of the Monitoring Committee. More specifically, attention was drawn to the assumption by the ACS of responsibility for spearheading the technical work involved in the further development of *the Caribbean Sea proposal*, culminating with its convening of a Technical Advisory Group (TAG) on 25 March 2003. Arising from the deliberations of the TAG, a work programme had been adopted and provided the basis for a consultancy jointly sponsored by the ACS and the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean. The draft report arising from this consultancy had been received and was expected to significantly inform the report which is to be submitted by the Secretary-General of the ACS at the fifty-ninth session of the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA), in accordance with United Nations General Assembly resolution 57/261.

The representative of UNEP informed the session that the Executive Director of his agency and the Coordinator of the Caribbean Environment Programme had been invited to report to the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA) on activities taken to support the proposal for the international recognition of the Caribbean Sea as a special area in the context of sustainable development. He sought the advice of the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat on the form such a report should take in order to be of the greatest utility in the further development of the proposal.

The representative of the ACS indicated that the newly appointed Secretary-General of the Association was very supportive of the Caribbean Sea proposal and that the report of the consultancy mentioned by the representative of the secretariat would be useful in informing the report to be presented by the Secretary-General to the fifty-ninth session of the General Assembly.

In response to a query by one delegation with respect to the pace of the development of the proposal to date, the secretariat agreed that the effort to advance the Caribbean Sea proposal had not been as sustained as it might have been, though it was anticipated that its development would be accelerated in the short term.

Another delegation recommended that, following the review of the report of the consultancy by the ACS and ECLAC and notwithstanding the actions that would arise therefrom, it was important for CDCC countries to take due note of the issues that had been identified in document LC/CAR/L.3; CDCC 20/Inf.4 as constraints on the development of the proposal at earlier stages, so that future action might be appropriately informed.

The secretariat reviewed the major issues that had arisen in the discussion of the item and outlined the path that was envisaged for future action, culminating in the context of the present phase, with the presentation of a report by the Secretary-General of the ACS to the fifty-ninth session of the General Assembly in accordance with resolution 57/261.

Agenda item 11 - Obstacles to implementation of the Plan of Action of the World Summit on the Information Society

The secretariat presented document CDCC 20/Inf. 6; LC/CAR/L.5, which addressed the implementation of the Plan of Action adopted at the World Summit on the Information Society, (WSIS), the first session of which convened in Geneva in December 2003. A follow-up session is scheduled to convene in Tunis in November 2005.

The secretariat reviewed the Plan of Action for the benefit of the meeting and focused on the challenges associated with its implementation in the Caribbean. The Plan is intended to create an inclusive information society, which would put the potential of knowledge and information and communication technologies at the service of development, and outlines 10 connectivity, access and content targets to be achieved by governments before the second session is convened. In addition, governments are urged to develop national e-strategies, which would clearly articulate how countries plan to deploy digital technology to promote e-government, e-commerce, human capacity building, and the efficient delivery of education and health care. Governments are also required to initiate dialogue on the issues involving all relevant stakeholders; establish and promote partnerships where feasible; create multi-stakeholder portals having particular regard to the needs of indigenous peoples; establish capacity building mechanisms; and improve the quality of the information and communications infrastructure.

In commenting on the Plan of Action, the secretariat, making a clear distinction between the mere acquisition of the paraphernalia of the Digital Age and the productive deployment of these tools in the service of Caribbean development, stressed that the development challenge must be at the forefront of any plans to create an information society. Systems should therefore be put in place to measure whether increased Information and Communications Technology (ICT) access was used for predominantly productive purposes, or mainly for leisure and entertainment. Efforts should also be made to ensure that increased investment in ICT education would be paralleled by an enhanced capacity of the labour market to absorb the newly skilled persons. The need for the commercialisation of research, the nurturing of fledgling ICT

enterprises, ensuring that e-commerce did not merely mean e-consumerism, and providing an enabling policy and legislative framework were also emphasised.

The secretariat also identified several obstacles, which would need to be overcome if the Plan of action was to be implemented. These obstacles were identified as gaps in knowledge, data and skills, together with the need for integrated planning and proper priority setting.

Finally, the secretariat shared with the meeting, elements of a project proposal, for which funding was still being sought. The project was entitled, A Caribbean Information Society 2005 - proposal to support the transition. Among the activities proposed were: the convening of a meeting involving relevant CDCC member governments, agencies, the private sector and other stakeholders; a series of wide ranging national consultations to increase knowledge and awareness of the issues; the preparation of a series of ICT profiles of each CDCC member State; and the commissioning of a short feature film focusing on the successes of young technopreneurs. In closing this presentation, the secretariat emphasised that its intention was to partner with other agencies already involved in this area in order to avoid duplicating the other useful Information Society initiatives which were already underway. The meeting was urged to recognize the growing importance of information and communications to the development process, to increase familiarity with the WSIS Plan of Action and to support the secretariat in its efforts to secure resources to assist in the creation of an inclusive Caribbean Information Society.

One delegate commended the secretariat on its presentation and indicated that there was much scope for collaboration. He suggested that the Plan of Action adopted at the first phase of the WSIS (2003) should be made available and proposed that CARICOM should consider its integration into the efforts undertaken to implement the 'Connectivity Agenda'. He further expressed a need for governments in the subregion to provide an 'IT-friendly' environment, which should also include the liberalization of the telecom services market.

In responding to the presentation by the secretariat, the representative of Trinidad and Tobago, currently the only English-speaking Caribbean member of the Preparatory WSIS Bureau, commended the secretariat on its presentation and endorsed the proposal to convene a regional stakeholders meeting prior to the proposed inter-sessional meeting in Brazil. She suggested that the study proposed by ECLAC/CDCC should explore the change management implications of the information society, indicating that Trinidad and Tobago had already begun the consultative process. The delegate enquired whether ECLAC/CDCC could provide technical or financial assistance for this process. Regarding the ICT profiles proposed, the delegate reported that much of her country's data had already been collected, although some updating would be required. In terms of the addition research which might be needed the delegation again enquired whether ECLAC would be able to offer technical or financial assistance.

As regards the Caribbean Digital Library, this was regarded by the representative of Trinidad and Tobago as an excellent initiative which would result in synergies with the Trinidad and Tobago government backbone. She also enquired whether consideration had been given to the inclusion of a regional on-line forum to facilitate dialogue between governments in the subregion.

With regard to the compilation of ICT success stories, the representative of Trinidad and Tobago indicated her country's support of this initiative and suggested that the "success stories" concept be expanded to include "best practices". This concept could also be incorporated into the Caribbean Digital Library.

The representative of Trinidad and Tobago pledged her country's willingness to collaborate with ECLAC/CDCC towards the development of regional positions, wherever possible, to ensure that the interests of Caribbean SIDS were included in the WSIS Phase II agenda. In this context, three areas were identified as being of particular interest, namely, intellectual property; internet governance; and the establishment of funding mechanisms to advance the Information Society. The hope was also expressed that the Caribbean Diaspora would be tapped as a source of expertise.

Agenda item 12 - Meeting the challenges of the Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA): trade trends, export specialization patterns and regional integration in the Caribbean (including the case of the non-independent Caribbean countries)

The secretariat presented document, CDCC 20/Inf.5; LC/CAR/L.4, *Meeting the challenges of the FTAA: Trade trends, export specialization patterns and regional integration in the Caribbean (including the case of the NICCS)* which examined the trade profiles of the member countries of the CDCC, paying particular attention to the trends in the trade of the subregion; export specialization patterns; and the progress of Caribbean regional integration. It outlined the effects, issues and potential impact on Caribbean economies of the formation of the Free Trade Area of the Americas in 2005.

Overall, the impacts of the FTAA for member countries were likely to center on trade intensity and trade structure and on the relationship between internal balance and the foreign exchange constraint. For non-member countries, the effects were likely to focus on the terms of trade and on investment switching. For these countries, given the present structure of market access, the possibilities of trade diversion were small.

Finally, the FTAA had a microeconomic dimension that needed to be explored in greater detail since it had been to some extent overlooked in the existing literature. The microeconomic dimension related to the effect of the FTAA on firms and on Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in particular.

The presentation was well received as it highlighted implications of fundamental importance of the FTAA for smaller economies and for the NICCs. In the course of the discussion on the presentation and on the document under reference, three major issues were raised.

The first focused on the compatibility between the FTAA and regional agreements such as the CARICOM Single Market and Economy (CSME). From the secretariat's point of view, the FTAA was compatible with subregional free trade agreements in the same way as the WTO

23

allowed, through its article 24, the formation of regional trading blocs. The secretariat nonetheless stated that the formation of the FTAA might affect the composition of intraregional trade and that Caribbean governments should analyze the possibility of establishing compensation mechanisms for firms and products that would be negatively affected.

The second issue related to the definition and analysis of *export promotion*. In response to a request from a delegation, the secretariat provided a general explanation of the concept, with reference to such elements as the increase in the rate of growth of exports and market penetration. The secretariat then presented a brief overview of export promotion policies in the Caribbean. At the present time, regional and national export promotion strategies coexisted, but with a marked absence of coordination between them. At the national level, CARICOM economies were at different stages in their export promotion efforts. The common denominators (with the exception of small size and the adoption fiscal incentives) that could characterize or encompass their export promotion experiences, were indicated to span the search for niche markets, market segmentation and comparative advantage. An analysis of different national cases including, Barbados; Guyana; Jamaica; the member States of the OECS; and Suriname had indicated that export promotion strategies and in particular the common denominators listed above were significantly shaped and determined by their different stages of economic and institutional development and also, and most importantly, by the structure of their economies.

The third issue raised was that of special and differential treatment and its relevance for smaller economies. In response to a request from a delegation, the secretariat clarified its position on special and differential treatment, indicating that this was regarded as a necessary component of any free trade agreement involving smaller economies. However, this was not to be approached as a dogma. The secretariat reiterated that empirical and microeconomic studies should be undertaken to demonstrate the circumstances in which the maximum benefit would accrue to given countries that received special and differential treatment.

Agenda item 13 - Challenges in social development for Caribbean SIDS

The secretariat presented document LC/CAR/L.7, CDCC 20/8, entitled, *Challenges in the social sector confronting Caribbean SIDS*, which highlighted the following areas: the population dynamics of Caribbean SIDS; gender equality and the HIV/AIDS; and poverty reduction and human development. The challenges discussed in the paper had been identified in the course of research and technical assistance efforts undertaken by the secretariat during the preceding biennium. Specifically, the challenges included: strengthening collaboration efforts for managed migration; enhancing the evidence-based capacity of social policy makers; encouraging the use of gender research and analysis in the efforts to reduce the incidence of HIV/AIDS; and enhancing the human resource capacity especially in the field of social planning and policy analysis at the national level.

In the area of population and development, the secretariat highlighted its core activities:
(a) The subregional conference to review the implementation of the ICPD Programme of Action in the Caribbean, which was held in Port of Spain, on 10-11 November 2003; (b) Population Ageing in the subregion - the secretariat briefly reported on the Second World Assembly on

Ageing (the Madrid Summit), of 2002; the Regional Intergovernmental Conference on Ageing, Santiago, Chile, November 2003; and the Regional Strategy adopted at the Santiago Conference for the implementation of the commitments made in Madrid. The session was also informed of efforts by the secretariat to organize a follow-up meeting to discuss the regional strategy and to translate it into a programme of action for the Caribbean. Of particular concern in this regard, were the provision of pension schemes and the need for social welfare programmes including the provision of health care services to the elderly; (c) Migration, which was not a new phenomenon in the subregion but had a long history that involved almost all sectors of the society. The phenomenon could be observed within countries; within the subregion; as well as in third countries. Of particular concern was the ongoing brain-drain, as reflected in the departure of professionals in the health and education sectors, with serious implications for the provision of the corresponding services to the people of the subregion. The secretariat also reported on its ongoing collaboration with the Pan American Health Organization/Caribbean Programme Coordination (PAHO/CPC) and the Caribbean Regional Negotiating Machinery (CRNM) to develop a joint approach to the forthcoming General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) negotiations, particularly in relation to to Mode IV.

One delegation indicated that migration had been an area of great concern for the entire region and elaborated on the various population movements to destinations within, as well as outside, the Caribbean. He also drew attention to the importance of the forthcoming liberalization of the movement of people in the framework of the CSME and its social implications, along with legal issues, such as the nationality of foreign born migrants and their descendants and social protection of migrants.

The delegation of Suriname expressed its particular concern with respect to the continued high influx of migrants from Latin America, particularly from Brazil, and the burdens of this on the social services.

The representative of the ACS proposed the execution of a study on changing family structures in the Caribbean, to examine, in particular, the impact of the increasing divorce rates on family structure in the subregion.

Agenda item 14 - Measuring social and economic trends in the Caribbean

- The Caribbean Social Statistical Database (CSSD)
- CARIBTRADE: trade flows database

The Caribbean Social Statistical Database (CSSD)

In presenting the holdings of the database and demonstrating its use, delegates were referred to document, LC/CAR/G.776, entitled *Challenges in meeting the monitoring requirements of the MDGs: an examination of selected social statistics for four Caribbean SIDS.*

The secretariat reported that, during the 2002-2003 biennium, the ECLAC/CDCC project had accomplished its objective of establishing a fully searchable database. This had been done in

collaboration with the National Statistical Offices (NSOs) and regional institutions such as the CARICOM Secretariat, UWI and the Caribbean Development Bank (CDB). The database included Surveys of Living Conditions (SLC), Population Census Data, and Labour Force Data, from 1990 to the present time.

All countries in the subregion, with the exception of Cuba and the Dominican Republic, had contributed to the database. The Dominican Republic had earlier indicated its intent and willingness to participate. Governments that had completed the 2000/2001 round of the population and housing census had agreed, in principle, to deposit their results with the database and had already begun to do so. The databases currently held the 2000/2001 population and housing census for the Bahamas, Barbados, Belize and Saint Lucia. Aggregated census data had also been received from the Netherlands Antilles.

The secretariat indicated that the database would have two levels of query. The first could be termed standard queries and the other ad hoc or specialized queries. The first level would be available to governments, researchers and the general public. The mode of access to and use of that level was demonstrated to the delegations. The second level, which was still under construction, would be available to researchers and government policy analysts, subject to the process which is being incorporated in accordance with which approval for such use of the statistical data would have to be obtained from the NSOs. Such recourse served to reinforce the fact that the data sets remained the property of the NSOs.

Delegates were also informed that, apart from the collection and harmonization of the data sets, the ECLAC/CDCC project contained a training component. Forty-five persons, including social planners, social policy analysts and statisticians with responsibility for socio-demographic data from 20 member and associate member countries were trained in 2002. The training had as its objective, the enhancement of the skills of senior technocrats in the field of social development in evidence-based social policy formulation and the workings of the Caribbean social statistical databases.

It was the intention of the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat that the database would act as the overarching mechanism to facilitate the more efficient use of social statistics in the subregion, thus strengthening the capacity for monitoring the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and undertaking subregional and regional comparative analysis.

General satisfaction was conveyed by delegations with respect to the demonstration and explanations provided in connection with the database.

CARIBTRADE: trade flows database

Delegations were also provided with a demonstration of the CARIBTRADE database, which was prepared by the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat with funding from the Kingdom of the Netherlands. The database, which drew on data provided by several members of CDCC, normalized to enhance comparability, answered queries on the direction of trade, trade

performance and competitiveness. Other outstanding features of the database, as well as the modalities for access, were explained.

CARIBTRADE, the Merchandise Trade and Transportation Database, was the result of a joint collaboration between the population division (CELADE) of ECLAC, Santiago, and the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean.

CARIBTRADE answered queries on the direction of trade; performance of trade; and competitiveness. The trade and competitiveness indicators included country and product shares, imports and exports by country of origin and destination and by product category.

This database had drawn on the data provided by the several Caribbean countries, which had used different nomenclatures and coding schemes to prepare and process their trade data. The data had been normalized to enhance their comparability. Its location on the Internet represented a contribution from ECLAC towards more widespread access to critical data that had in the past not been as generally available as the present offering. It also represented a contribution to the provision of data that could assist trade negotiators, researchers and the business community to make informed decisions.

The countries whose data were included in the present database were: Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Aruba, Barbados, Belize, British Virgin Islands, Dominica, Grenada, Guyana, Jamaica, Montserrat, the Netherlands Antilles, St. Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, and Trinidad and Tobago. Data for most countries were provided for the period 1995 to 2002.

General satisfaction was conveyed by delegations with respect to the scope of the CARIBTRADE database, its processes and the method prescribed for its updating.

Agenda item 15 - Date and place of the twelfth meeting of the Monitoring Committee

It was agreed that the date and venue for the twelfth meeting of the Monitoring Committee would be set following consultations by the secretariat with member countries.

Agenda item 16 - Other matters

Under this item, a resolution co-sponsored by the Dominican Republic and Puerto Rico was presented, entitled "Provision of extrabudgetary resources for ECLAC's Caribbean activities".

In the ensuing exchange, the representative of one delegation suggested that any other agencies or countries that provided extrabudgetary resources to ECLAC should be identified in the first paragraph of the resolution. The Chair stated that such an addition would be facilitated by the secretariat.

A second resolution addressed "Filling of Posts within the ECLAC/CDCC Subregional Office," was co-sponsored by the delegations of Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Dominican Republic, Grenada, Jamaica, St. Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, and the United States Virgin Islands.

Both resolutions were unanimously adopted. The respective texts are attached to this report.

Agenda item 17 - Consideration and adoption of the report of the CDCC technical meeting

The meeting report as generated up to the time set for the closure of the session was presented by the secretariat and a number of modifications were introduced by delegations. The chair then advised the session that the Draft Report would be finalized by the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat and dispatched to member countries for comment as the basis for the preparation of the final report.

Agenda item 18 - Closure

On concluding discussions on the preceding items, the Chairman expressed his appreciation to the delegations for their participation during the session. He also urged the participation of Caribbean governments at the high level meetings convened by the ECLAC system. In that regard, he expressed concern that the dates for the thirtieth session of ECLAC coincided with those for the Conference of Heads of Government of CARICOM and suggested that, in the future, all efforts should be made to coordinate the convening of such high level events.

On behalf of all delegations, the representative of Antigua and Barbuda expressed its gratitude to the staff of the secretariat and expressed appreciation in respect of the high quality of documentation received. She also thanked the Government of the United States Virgin Islands for its hospitality.

For its part, the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat expressed its gratitude to the authorities of the United States Virgin Islands for their generosity and hospitality in hosting the CDCC session.

PART III RESOLUTIONS OF THE SESSION

60(XX) Provision of extrabudgetary resources for ECLAC Caribbean activities

The Caribbean Development and Cooperation Committee

Recognizing and appreciating the support given by the Kingdom of the Netherlands and by the Executive Secretary of ECLAC to the work of the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean, through the provision of extrabudgetary resources to that office during the past two years;

Conscious of the importance of such additional budgetary support in order to strengthen ECLAC activities in areas of vital importance to the Caribbean;

Requests the Executive Secretary to continue to provide such extrabudgetary support for important ECLAC activities in the Caribbean, among others:

The project designed to implement the plan of action of the World Summit on the Information Society (WSIS) in the Caribbean, entitled "World Summit on the Information Society - supporting the transition."

61(XX) Filling of posts within the ECLAC/CDCC Subregional Office

The Caribbean Development and Cooperation Committee

Noting with concern the number of existing vacancies within the ECLAC Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean, and its effect on the progress of the implementation process, approved by the CDCC at its nineteenth ministerial meeting held in Trinidad and Tobago, 14-15 March 2002,

Encourages the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat to continue to utilize the expertise of the subregion when fulfilling its obligation in this regard, and promote the exchange of experience at the subregional level and to encourage coordination of efforts in this regard,

Encourages further, the ECLAC/CDCC secretariat to expedite the recruitment process of filling the post of Director and other existing vacancies as soon as possible, taking into account representation of the subregion,

Also encourages, that transparency should be a guiding principle during the recruitment and selection processes,

Reaffirms the need for the secretariat to continue to utilize the experience of the subregion when fulfilling its obligations in this regard,

Requests the secretariat to provide a report to the twelfth meeting of the ECLAC/CDCC Monitoring Committee.

Annex

List of Participants

A. Member States

ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA

Representative:

Ms. Dornella Seth, Counsellor, Permanent Mission to the United Nations, 610 Fifth Avenue, Suite 311, New York, N.Y. 10020, USA. Tel: (212) 541-4117; Fax: (212) 757-1607; E-mail: dornellaseth@yahoo.com

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

Representative:

Dr. Leonardo Abreu Padilla, Encargado del Departamento, Asuntos Economicos, Ave. Independencia No. 752, Santo Domingo. Tel: (809) 535-6280; Fax: (809) 535-0133; E-mail: aabreu@serex.gov.do. OR abreupadilla@hotmail.com

GRENADA

Representative:

Ms. Shirmaine Lynch, Senior Project Officer, Ministry of Finance and Planning, Carenage, St. Georges. Tel: (473) 440-2214; Fax: (473) 440-0775; E-mail: shirmaine.lynch@gov.gd

JAMAICA

Representative:

Mr. Hopeton Peterson, Manager, Sustainable Development, The Planning Institute of Jamaica, 10-16 Grenada Way, Kingston 5. Tel: (876) 906-4386/4468/4483/4463/4; Fax: (876) 906-4651; E-mail: h peterson 2001@yahoo.com

ST KITTS AND NEVIS

Representative:

Mr. Wesley Wharton, Director, Telecommunications and Technology, Ministry of Telecommunications and Technology, Church Street, Basseterre. Tel: (869) 465-2521 ext. 1426/466-1553; Fax: (869) 465-1778; E-mail: wesleywharton@yahoo.com

SAINT LUCIA

Representative:

Mr. Bishnunarine Tulsie, Chief Sustainable Development and Environment Officer, Ministry of Physical Development, Environment and Housing, Graeham Louisy Administrative Building, Castries. Tel: (758) 451-8746; Fax: (758) 451-6958; E-mail: btulsie@planning.gov.lc

ST VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES

Representative:

Mr. Alston Stoddard, Coordinator, Science and Technology, Ministry of Telecommunications, Science, Technology and Industry, Kingstown. Tel: (784) 456-1223; Fax: (784) 457-2880; Email: industry@vincysurf.com

SURINAME

Representative:

Mr. Neville J. Veira, Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of the Republic of Suriname to the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, 11 Maraval Road, Port of Spain. Tel: (868) 628-0704; Fax: (868) 628-0086; E-mail: AmbSurPDE@opus.co.tt

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Representative:

Ms. Donna Henry, Director, Multilateral Relations Division, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Knowsley" Building, #1 Queen's Park West, Port of Spain. Tel: (868) 623-8056; Fax: (868) 627-0571; E-mail: Henryd@foreign.gov.tt

Delegation members:

Ms. Roanna Gopaul, Foreign Service Officer. Tel: (868) 623-6894; Fax: (868) 627-0571; E-mail: Roanna.Gopaul@foreign.gov.tt

Ms. Susie Ali, Planning Officer, Ministry of Planning and Development, Level 13, Eric Williams Finance Building, Independence Square, Port of Spain. Tel: (868) 627-9700 ext 2064; Fax: (868) 625-0370; E-mail: susie.ali@pd.gov.tt

B. Associate members

ANGUILLA

Representative:

Dr. Aidan Harrigan, Permanent Secretary (Acting), Economic Development, Ministry of Finance, Economic Development, Investment and Commerce, The Secretariat, 1 Parliamentary Drive, The Valley. Tel: (264) 497-2451 ext. 208; Fax: (264) 497-3761; E-mail: aharrigan@gov.ai

NETHERLANDS ANTILLES

Representative:

Mr. Xavier C. Prens, Second Secretary, Representative Netherlands Antilles at the Embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands in Port of Spain, 69-71 Edward Street, Third Floor, Life of Barbados Building, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago. Tel: (868) 625-1210; Fax: (868) 625-1704; E-mail: Xavier.Prens@gov.an

Delegation member:

Mr. Gedion L. Isena, Staff Member, Directorate of Foreign Relations, Fort Amsterdam No. 4, Curacao. Tel: (5999) 461-3933; Fax: (5999) 461-7123; E-mail: Gedion.Isena@gov.an

PUERTO RICO

Representative:

Mr. Efraín Vazquez-Vera, Asesor de Relaciones Exteriores, Departamento de Estado, Apartado 9023271, San Juan, 00902-3271. Tel: (787) 667-4748; Fax: (787) 723-3304; E-mail: boriken@coqui.net

UNITED STATES VIRGIN ISLANDS

Representative:

H.E. Charles Turnbull, Governor, Government House, St. Thomas. Tel: (340) 693-4356; Fax: (340) 774-6917.

Delegation members:

Dr. Carlyle Corbin, Minister of State for External Affairs, Government House, St. Thomas. Tel: (340) 693-4356; Fax: (340) 774-6917; E-mail: ccorbinmon@att.net

Mr. Desmond Bartholomew, Economist, Office of the Governor, 1050 Norre Gade #5, Suite 301, St. Thomas. Tel: (340) 714-1700 ext. 247; Fax: (340) 776-7953; E-mail: dbartholomew@ber.gov.vi

Mr. Donnie E. Dorsett, Bureau of Economic Research, 1050 Norre Gade #5, Suite 301, St. Thomas. Tel: (340) 714-1700 ext. 242; Fax: (340) 776-7953; E-mail: dedorsett@ber.gov.vi

Mr. Gregory R. Francis, St. Croix Administrator, 1105 King Street, Christiansted, VI 00820. Tel: (340) 773-1404; Fax: (340) 713-9806; E-mail: raeburne@hotmail.com

Ms. Allison Gittens, Administrative Assistant to the Governor, 1105 King Street, Christiansted, VI 00820. Tel: (340) 773-1404; Fax: (340) 713-9806; E-mail: risanic@hotmail.com

Ms. Sharon D. Hill, Special Project Coordinator, 1105 King Street, Christiansted, VI 00820. Tel: (340) 773-1404; Fax: (340) 713-9806; E-mail: sherja56@yahoo.com

Mr. Fred A. Esannason, Special Assistant to the St. Croix Administrator, #1 Lagoon Street Complex, Frederiksted, VI 00840. Tel: (340) 772-1000; Fax: (340) 772-0333; E-mail: Freddypatch@aol.com

Mr. Frank L. Mills, Eastern Caribbean Center, University of the Virgen Islands, St. Thomas. Tel: (340) 693-1027; Fax: (340) 693-1025; E-mail: fmills@uvi.edu

Honourable Luther F. Renee, Legislative of the Virgins Islands, #1 Lagoon Street Complex, Frederiksted, USVI 00840. Tel: (340) 712-2222; Fax: (340) 712-2378; E-mail: lrenee@senate.gov.vi

Mr. Frank Schulterbrandt, esq., Chief Executive Officer, Virgin Islands Economic Development Authority, 1050 Norre Gade #5, St. Thomas. Tel: (340) 714-1711; Fax: (340) 715-2753; E-mail: fschulterbrandt@unvieda.org

Mr. Victor Somme III, Director of Energy/Coastal Zone Management Director Designee, No. 45 Estate Mars Hill, Frederiksed. Tel: (340) 773-1082; Fax: (340) 772-2133; E-mail: energydir@viaccess.net

C. United Nations

International Telecommunication Union (ITU)

Representative:

Mr. Philip Cross, ITU Caribbean Representative, UN House, Marine Gardens, Hastings, Christ Church, Barbados. Tel: (246) 431-0343/4; Fax: (246) 437-7403; E-mail: itucaribbean@caribsurf.com

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

Representative:

Mr. Deodat Maharaj, Chief, Caribbean Surf, Caribbean Sub-Regional Resource Facility, #3 Chancery Lane, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago. Tel: (868) 623-7056 ext 293; Fax: (868) 623-5940; E-mail: dmaharaj@surf.undp.org.tt

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

Representative:

Mr. Luc St-Pierre, CEPNET Programme Officer, 14-20 Port Royal Street, Kingston, Jamaica. Tel: (876) 922-9267; Fax: (876) 922-9292; E-mail: lsp.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com

D. Intergovernmental organizations

Association of Caribbean States (ACS)

Representative:

Mr. Luis Noriega, Director, 5-7 Sweet Briar Road, St. Clair, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago. Tel: (868) 622-9575; Fax: (868) 622-1653; E-mail: lnoreiga@acs-aec.org

Caribbean Community Secretariat

Representative:

Ms. Lolita Applewhaite, Deputy Secretary-General, Bank of Guyana Building, Georgetown, Guyana. Tel: (592) 226-7820; (592) 226-4493; E-mail: lapplewhaite@caricom.org OR odsg@caricom.org

Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture

Representative:

Mr. Aaron Parke, Representative and Coordinator of the Regional Agenda, #3 Herbert Street, St. Clair, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago. Tel: (868) 622-7050; Fax: (868) 628-4562; E-mail: aparke@iicacarc.org

Organisation of Eastern Caribbean States (OECS)

Representative:

Dr. Vasantha Chase, Head of Unit OECS- ESDU, P.O. Box 1383, Castries, St. Lucia. Tel: (758) 453-6208; Fax: (758) 452-2194; E-mail: vchase@oecs.org

E. Secretaría

Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC)

ECLAC Headquarters

Mr. Daniel S. Blanchard, Secretary of the Commission, Ave. Dag Hammarskjöld 3477, Vitacura, Santiago, Chile. Tel: (562) 471- 2000; Fax: (562) 210-2000; E-Mail: dblanchard@cepal.cl Ms. Miriam Krawczyk, Director, Programme Planning and Operations Division. mkrawczyk@cepal.cl.

Subregional Headquarters for the Caribbean

Mr. Esteban Perez, Officer-in-Charge, 1 Chancery Lane, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago.

Tel: (868) 623-5595; Fax: (868) 623-8485; E-mail: eperez@eclacpos.org.

Mr. Radcliffe Dookie, Associate Programme Officer. E-mail: rdookie@eclacpos.org.

Mr. Arthur Gray, Regional Economic Adviser. E-mail: agray@eclacpos.org.

Ms. Sandra John, Chief, Documentation Centre. E-mail: sjohn@eclacpos.org.

Ms. Asha Kambon, Social Affairs Officer. E-mail: akambon@eclacpos.org.

Ms. Karoline Schmid, Social Affairs Officer. E-mail: kschmid@eclacpos.org.